HAVANT BOROUGH COUNCIL
PUBLIC SERVICE PLAZA
CIVIC CENTRE ROAD
HAVANT
HAMPSHIRE P09 2AX
Telephone:
Fax:
Website:

023 9247 4174
023 9248 0263
www.havant.gov.uk

CABINET AGENDA
Membership:

Councillor Wilson (Chairman)

Councillors Inkster, Bains, Bowerman, Rennie, Turner, Hughes and Thain-Smith

Meeting:

Cabinet

Date:

Wednesday 28 October 2020

Time:

2.00 pm

Venue:

Skype for Business

The business to be transacted is set out below:
Gill Kneller
Chief Executive
20 October 2020
Contact Officer:

James Harris 01730 234098
Email: DemocraticServicesTeam@havant.gov.uk

Page

PART 1 (Items open for public attendance)
1

Apologies for Absence
To receive and record any apologies for absence.

2

Minutes
To confirm the minutes of the last meeting held on 2 September
2020.

3

Declarations of Interests

1-4

To receive and record any declarations of interest.

4

Chairman's Report

5

Cabinet Lead Delegated Decisions, Minutes from Meetings etc

5 - 16

RECOMMENDED that the following Delegated Decisions be noted:
(1) Traffic Regulation Order – Fir Copse Road
(2) Traffic Regulation Order – Heather Road
(3) Traffic Regulation Order – Highfield Avenue
(4) Traffic Regulation Order – Hooks Farm Way
(5) Traffic Regulation Order – St Johns Road
(6) Traffic Regulation Order – Scratchface Lane

Cabinet Lead for Coastal Communities
6

Langstone Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management

17 - 56

Leader of the Council
7

Disposal of Former Landfill Site known as Brockhampton West
Please note that annex 1 and appendices 2,3,4,5,6 and 8 to the
report contain information that is classed as exempt under Part 1 of
Schedule 12A (as amended) of the Local Government Act 1972.
If Cabinet wishes to discuss the detail of the exempt appendices it is
recommended that the resolution at item 8 be passed to cease the
public broadcast of the meeting, thereby excluding the press and
public.

PART 2 (Confidential items - closed to the public)
8

Exclusion of the Press and Public
The Cabinet is asked to consider whether to pass a resolution
excluding the public from the meeting during consideration of any of
the items on the agenda. If members wish to do so then this could be
achieved by passing the following resolution. Members are not
required to pass the resolution but the Solicitor to the Council
recommends this as to the item set out below.

ii

57 - 194

That the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of
the item headed and numbered as below because:
(a)

it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members
of the public were present during that item there would be
disclosure to them of exempt information of the descriptions
specified in paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as
amended) of the Local Government Act 1972 shown against
the heading in question; and

(b)

in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information.
Item 9 – Capita Contract Negotiations
(Paragraph 3)

Cabinet Lead for People and Communications (including
Legal and Capita)
9

Capita Contract Negotiations

195 - 206

iii

GENERAL INFORMATION
IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR ANY OF ITS
REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE, AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE
PLEASE CONTACT DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 023 9244 6231
Internet
This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the Havant Borough
Council website: www.havant.gov.uk
Public Attendance and Participation
Members of the public are welcome to follow proceedings via the link on the
Council’s website.
Many of the Council’s meetings allow the public to make deputations on matters
included in the agenda. Rules govern this procedure and for further information
please get in touch with the contact officer for this agenda.

iv

PROTOCOL AT MEETINGS – RULES OF DEBATE
Rules of Debate













Councillors must always address each other as “Councillor …” and must
always address the meeting through the Chairman;
A motion must relate to the business included on the agenda or accepted by
the meeting as urgent business
A motion must be proposed and seconded before it is debated until it is either
accepted or rejected by a vote;
An amendment can be proposed to the original motion and this must be
seconded before it is debated;
An amendment cannot be considered if it is inconsistent with an amendment
previously adopted or repeats an amendment previously rejected;
The mover of an original motion may, with the consent of the mover of an
amendment, incorporate an amendment into the motion;
Only one amendment may be moved at a time. No further amendments can be
moved until the previous amendment has been dealt with;
Each amendment must be voted on separately;
If an amendment is carried, the amended motion becomes the substantive
motion to which further amendments may be moved;
If an amendment is lost, other amendments may be moved to the original
motion.
The mover may withdraw an amendment at any time
After an amendment has been carried, the Chairman will read out the amended
(substantive) motion, before accepting any further amendment, or if there are
none, put it to the vote.

Voting









Voting may be by a show of hands or by a ballot at the discretion of the
Chairman;
Councillors may not vote unless they are present for the full duration of the
item;
Where there is an equality of votes, the Chairman may exercise a second
(casting) vote;
Two Councillors may request, before a vote is taken, that the names of those
voting be recorded in the minutes
A recorded vote will always be taken in respect of approval of the Annual
Budget
Councillors may not vote unless they are in the meeting for the full debate on
any particular item
A Councillor may request that his/her vote be recorded in the minutes,
v

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
1
Cabinet
2 September 2020
HAVANT BOROUGH COUNCIL
At a meeting of the Cabinet held on 2 September 2020
Present
Councillor Wilson (Chairman)
Councillors Inkster, Bains, Bowerman, Rennie, Turner, Hughes and Thain-Smith
1

Apologies for Absence
There were no apologies for absence.

2

Minutes
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 1 July 2020 were agreed and
signed with the following amendment (in italics) to Minute 68, Declarations of
Interest:

3

Councillor Minute Item Title
No

Nature of Interest

Cllr Inkster

Perception of bias, as Cllr
Inkster had potential
interests as a property
owner.

71

Havant Borough Local
Plan: Change to the
Pre Submission Local
Plan

Declarations of Interests
There were no declarations of interest.

4

Chairman's Report
The Leader welcomed all back to the Council offices for this first ‘hybrid’
meeting of the Cabinet.

5

Cabinet Lead Delegated Decisions, Minutes from Meetings etc.
Cabinet RESOLVED that the following delegated Decisions be NOTED:
(1)
(2)

6

West Beach Hayling Island Coastal Management
Empty Properties Strategy

'Shaping our Future' Transformation Programme
The Leader introduced the item and explained the background context behind
the report. He believed that the proposal would ensure that the council would
be best placed to meet the future challenges.

Page 1

2
Cabinet
2 September 2020
In response to questions it was confirmed that ongoing live projects would be
reviewed, prioritised and any changes necessary to enable the delivery of the
transformation programme submitted to Cabinet for agreement.
During the discussion the importance of the council retaining its identity as its
own entity was highlighted, along with the importance of the transformation
programme supporting the delivery of the council’s corporate plan.
Proposed by Cllr Wilson and seconded by Cllr Hughes, it was unanimously
RESOLVED that Cabinet:
(i) Agreed the policy principles in Appendix 1 to the report;
(ii) Invite full Council to agree the approach taken by Cabinet to implement
the Corporate plan to create a sustainable Council;
(iii) Invite the Chief Executive to produce a ‘Shaping our Future’
transformation programme initiation document to support the Corporate
Plan Theme 1 of sustainability;
(iv) Invite the Chief Financial Officer to make appropriate provision in
preparation of the annual budget 2021/22 for delivery of transformation;
and
(v) Invite the Chief Executive to report to Cabinet each quarter outlining
progress, expenditure and any delay.
RESOLVED that Cabinet NOTED that a Cabinet Liaison Panel has been
established under Covid-19 Recovery and a Transformation themed group will
be formed within this panel to coordinate approaches.
7

Appointments to Outside Organisations

Proposed by Cllr Wilson and seconded by Cllr Hughes, it was unanimously
RESOLVED that:
Cabinet appoint members to represent the Council on those outside
organisations set out in Appendix A, with the addition of Cllr Narinder Bains
being appointed as the council’s representative on the Police and Crime Panel.
Attendance at meetings of the organisations concerned to qualify as an
Approved Duty and all appointments to have effect until the first meeting of the
Cabinet in the 2021/22 municipal year.

Page 2

3
Cabinet
2 September 2020
8

Introducing Microsoft Teams
Cllr Rennie introduced the report as the relevant Cabinet Lead.
In response to questions it was confirmed that Microsoft Teams had a number
of advantages over Skype for Business, it being a more modern platform.
These included a more stable performance over different internet speeds and
greater functionality through add-ons.
Proposed by Cllr Rennie and seconded by Cllr Turner, it was unanimously
RESOLVED that:
Cabinet agree the mitigations, proposed implementation methodology and
timeline outlined in section 5 of the report.

The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 2.48 pm

……………………………
Chairman

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4

Agenda Item 5
Havant Borough Council
Record of Decision
Non Key Decision

1.

TITLE:

2.

PURPOSE OF DECISION

Fir Copse Road / The Dale

Proposed TRO to introduce waiting restrictions
3.

DECISION MADE BY:

4.

DECISION:

5.

Cabinet Lead for Neighbourhoods, Safety and Enforcement

1

This report requests that a decision be made in line with the
recommendation that:

2

officers can proceed with the process of implementing a Traffic Regulation
Order (TRO) in Fir Copse Road / The Dale & The Brow and undertake the
public consultation regarding the proposed changes; and

3

officers can bring the proposed TRO into force except where:

a)

a ward councillor registers a request that the matter be dealt with by
Cabinet; or

b)

ten or more representations from separate addresses are received
(and not withdrawn) which are in objection to the officer
recommendation.

DOCUMENT CONSIDERED:

Report
Enc. 2 Plan 2020PUR02 for Fir Copse Road / The
Dale
Enc. 3 2020PUR03 for Fir Copse Road / The Dale
Enc. 4 Plan 2020PUR 04 for Fir Copse Road / The
Dale
Enc. 5 Plan 2020PUR05 for Fir Copse Road / The
Dale
Enc. 6 Plan 2020PUR06 for Fir Copse Road / The
Dale
Enc. 7 Plan 2020PUR07 for Fir Copse Road / The
Dale

Decision Status

Date of Decision Made

Call In Expiry Date

For Determination

17 September 2020

24 September 2020

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Havant Borough Council
Record of Decision
Non Key Decision

1.

TITLE:

2.

PURPOSE OF DECISION

Heather Close

Proposed TRO to introduce waiting restrictions
3.

DECISION MADE BY:

4.

DECISION:

5.

Cabinet Lead for Neighbourhoods, Safety and Enforcement

1

officers proceed the process of implementing a Traffic Regulation Order
(TRO) in Heather Close and undertake the public consultation regarding
the proposed changes; and

2

officers bring the proposed TRO into force except where:
a)

a ward councillor registers a request that the matter be dealt with by
Cabinet; or

b)

ten or more representations from separate addresses are received
(and not withdrawn) which are in objection to the officer
recommendation.

DOCUMENT CONSIDERED:

Enc. 2 Report for Heather Close
Enc. 1 Plan 2020STA01 for Heather Close

Decision Status

Date of Decision Made

Call In Expiry Date

For Determination

17 September 2020

24 September 2020

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Havant Borough Council
Record of Decision
Non Key Decision

1.

TITLE:

2.

PURPOSE OF DECISION

Highfield Avenue

Proposed TRO to introduce waiting restrictions
3.

DECISION MADE BY:

4.

DECISION:

Cabinet Lead for Neighbourhoods, Safety and Enforcement

1

officers proceed the process of implementing a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) in
Highfield Avenue and undertake the public consultation regarding the proposed
changes; and

2

officers bring the proposed TRO into force except where:

5.

a)

a ward councillor registers a request that the matter be dealt with by
Cabinet; or

b)

ten or more representations from separate addresses are received (and
not withdrawn) which are in objection to the officer recommendation.

DOCUMENT CONSIDERED:

Report
Enc. 2 Plan for Highfield Avenue

Decision Status

Date of Decision Made

Call In Expiry Date

For Determination

17 September 2020

24 September 2020

1.

TITLE:

2.

PURPOSE OF DECISION

3.

DECISION MADE BY:

4.

DECISION:

5.

DOCUMENT CONSIDERED:
Decision Status

Date of Decision Made

Page 9

Call In Expiry Date

Page 10

Havant Borough Council
Record of Decision
Non Key Decision

1.

TITLE:

2.

PURPOSE OF DECISION

Hooks Farm Way / Hooks Lane / Timsbury Crescent

Proposed TRO to introduce waiting restrictions
3.

DECISION MADE BY:

4.

DECISION:

5.

Cabinet Lead for Neighbourhoods, Safety and Enforcement

1

officers proceed with the process of implementing a Traffic Regulation
Order (TRO) in Hooks Farm Way and undertake the public consultation
regarding the proposed changes; and

2

officers bring the proposed TRO into force except where:
a

a ward councillor registers a request that the matter be dealt with by
Cabinet; or

b

ten or more representations from separate addresses are received
(and not withdrawn) which are in objection to the officer
recommendation.

DOCUMENT CONSIDERED:

Enc. 1 Report for Hooks Farm Way / Hooks Lane /
Timsbury Crescent
Enc. 2 Plan 2020BED01 for Hooks Farm Way /
Hooks Lane / Timsbury Crescent
Enc. 3 Plan 2020BED02 for Hooks Farm Way /
Hooks Lane / Timsbury Crescent
Enc. 4 Plan 2020BED03 for Hooks Farm Way /
Hooks Lane / Timsbury Crescent

Decision Status

Date of Decision Made

Call In Expiry Date

For Determination

17 September 2020

24 September 2020

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Havant Borough Council
Record of Decision
Non Key Decision

1.

TITLE:

2.

PURPOSE OF DECISION

St Johns Road

Proposed TRO to introduce waiting restrictions
3.

DECISION MADE BY:

4.

DECISION:

5.

Cabinet Lead for Neighbourhoods, Safety and Enforcement

1

officers proceed with the process of implementing a Traffic Regulation Order
(TRO) in St Johns Road and undertake the public consultation regarding the
proposed changes; and

2

officers bring the proposed TRO into force except where:
a)

a ward councillor registers a request that the matter be dealt with by
Cabinet; or

b)

ten or more representations from separate addresses are received
(and not withdrawn) which are in objection to the officer
recommendation.

DOCUMENT CONSIDERED:

St Johns Road
Enc. 1 for St Johns Road

Decision Status

Date of Decision Made

Call In Expiry Date

For Determination

22 September 2020

30 September 2020

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Havant Borough Council
Record of Decision
Non Key Decision

1.

TITLE:

2.

PURPOSE OF DECISION

Scratchface Lane

Proposed TRO to introduce waiting restrictions
3.

DECISION MADE BY:

4.

DECISION:

5.

Cabinet Lead for Neighbourhoods, Safety and Enforcement

(1)

officers proceed with the process of implementing a Traffic Regulation Order
(TRO) in Highfield Avenue and undertake the public consultation regarding
the proposed changes; and

(2)

officers bring the proposed TRO into force except where:
a)

a ward councillor registers a request that the matter be dealt with by
Cabinet; or

b)

ten or more representations from separate addresses are received
(and not withdrawn) which are in objection to the officer
recommendation.

DOCUMENT CONSIDERED:

Report
Plan for Scratchface Lane

Decision Status

Date of Decision Made

Call In Expiry Date

For Determination

28 September 2020

5 October 2020

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
NON-EXEMPT

HAVANT BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET

28 October 2020

LANGSTONE FLOOD & COASTAL EROSION RISK MANAGEMENT
SCHEME
FOR DECISION
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Turner, Cabinet Lead for Finance & Coastal
Communities
Key Decision: YES
Report Number: HBC/018/2020

1.0

Purpose

1.1

To update Cabinet on the progress of the Langstone Flood and Coastal
Erosion Risk Management Study.

1.2

To seek cabinet decision on the outline designs and route alignment
options in order to allow the project to progress into the detailed design
stage.

1.3

To seek approval to procure professional services for the detailed
design contract and to seek approval for delegated authority on the
contract; with an estimated value of £250k- £400k for professional
services support.

2.0

Recommendation
That Cabinet:
a) Notes the positive progress of the outline design study and the
notable success relating to securing or identifying funding to
take it forwards into detailed design.
b) Notes the Community Infrastructure Levy contribution from
Havant Borough Council to protect the main road access onto
Hayling Island from flooding. This is critical for delivery of the
Local Plan however, the funding also forms an important part of
the solution to reduce flood risk to the Langstone community.

Page 17

c) Approves the outline design and recommended route alignment
options, noting the polarised community views on some
stretches of the frontage.
d) Delegate authority to the head of coastal partnership, acting in
consultation with the portfolio holder, S151 officer and
monitoring officer, to appoint professional services and approve
Change Events to the NEC Professional Services Contract,
given that the total contract value (estimated to be £250k ~£400k) exceeds individual sign off limits in this case. All in
compliance with procurement requirements.
3.0

Executive Summary

3.1

Havant Borough Council’s (HBC) coastal engineers, the Eastern Solent
Coastal Partnership [ESCP], have been working in partnership with
AECOM (professional consultant) to develop the leading technically,
environmentally and economically viable flood risk management
options for Langstone.

3.2

The outline design stage of the project has now been completed and
was seed funded by the Southern Regional Flood and Coastal
Committee (SRFCC) levy (£301k) and HBC Community Infrastructure
Levy (CIL) (£75k).

3.3

Hayling Island, to the south of Langstone has approximately 17,500
residents and over 1000 Small Medium Enterprise businesses (B2B
marketing dataset). Visitors are attracted to the island’s beaches and
holiday camps and the A3023 forms the only road linking the island
with the mainland via a bridge, where all major utilities and services are
situated.
Therefore, one of the primary focuses of the scheme is to protect the
A3023 from flooding and erosion and protect the interests of Hayling
Island. The A3023 runs through the centre of Langstone, with the heart
of the historic village located on the east side of the road and the
Sailing Club and Mill Lane residential area located on the west side of
the road. To the south of Langstone, the road passes across the road
bridge.

3.4

The Langstone area, including the A3023, is at risk from tidal flooding
and is only 0.7 miles south of the major road junction, connecting the
A3023 to the A27 Trunk Road and to the B2149 access to Havant
Town Centre.
Should the road be inundated by the sea at Langstone, the one and
only road transport link to Hayling Island will be disrupted and the
island would be ‘cut-off’ from the mainland for a period of time. This
also has implications for the health and safety of residents on Hayling
Island because emergency service access to the island would be

Page 18

restricted or severed. With climate change and sea level rise the
occurrence of such events is set to increase significantly.
A recent example of the type of disruption that can be caused by
flooding or road closure occurred on the 14th June 2019. A water main
burst on the A3023 on the southbound carriageway right by the
entrance to the Langstone Bridge. This resulted in a lane closure which
had profound impacts on the entire regions road network with gridlock
on many roads in the area including the A27 and A3 for up to 4 hours
during peak rush hour.
3.5

Another primary focus of the scheme is to reduce flood and erosion risk
to life and property in Langstone. For the present day there are 72
residential properties at risk from a 1 in 200 year (0.5% AEP) tidal flood
event. There are also 4 non-residential properties at risk of flooding
from the same return period event. Due to sea level rise, in 100 years’
time 122 residential properties and 9 non-residential properties are
expected to be at risk from a 1 in 200 year (0.5% AEP) event (See
Appendix 1 for present day and future 1/200 yr. flood mapping).

3.6

Many of the current defences along the Langstone frontage are also in
poor condition and have residual lives of less than 5 years without
significant maintenance. Ground and structural investigation works
(2018/19) found that many of the defence lengths have no foundations
and are being undermined, placing the properties only meters away at
risk of erosion or falling into the harbour.

3.7

The total value of the detailed design phase costs is estimated at
£600,000 - £700,000, while it is anticipated that the external
professional services will account for approximately (£250,000 £400,000).

3.8

A core scheme has been identified through the outline design study. At
present it is estimated that the cost of this scheme is in the region of
£4.5 – £5.1 million (cash costs including risk and appraisal costs). This
cost will be refined and finalised during the detailed design stage of the
project.

3.9

A further Council Decision will be required, following the approximate
24-month detail design phase, before appointing a contractor and
moving into the construction phase of the project. At that point there
will be more certainty over the construction and ongoing maintenance
costs associated with the project.

3.10

An economic appraisal has been developed for this study in line with
the HM Treasury and Environment Agency FCERM Appraisal
Guidance (FCERM-AG, 2010).

Page 19

The do-nothing cash damages for a 50-year scheme are £28.7 million
(cash) for all frontages. Section 6 provides an overview of the direct
and indirect benefits of undertaking a scheme at Langstone.
3.11

The core scheme however, does not include erosion protection to
Langstone sailing club, which is estimated to cost an additional £400k.
The core scheme does not include protection to a group of private
residents at Mill Lane which would be an estimated additional cost of
approx. £2 million. The project team are working closely with the sailing
club, landowners and residents in the hope that they can raise the
required funding to be part of the construction phase of the scheme.

3.12

Therefore, the do-nothing cash damages for the proposed 50 year core
scheme are 24.6 million (Cash). These are traditional flood and erosion
damages and do not include the other wider benefits discussed in
section 6.

3.13

There has been significant engagement on the project since it started
in 2018 (further detail below in section 12). However, in response to
some of the leading options at certain locations the Save Our Shore
Group was formed by a group of 6 concerned residents.
The project team has met subsequently with the group along with
representatives from the wider residents and key stakeholders. As part
of that process the project team re-examined options along the Royal
Oak frontage, the frontage from the end of Langstone High Street to
the Ship Inn, along with a resident proposed option of a harbour
barrage structure.

3.14

There is clear agreement in the community that flood and erosion risk
should be reduced with wide support for a project. However, there has
been a polarisation of opinion over the options and route alignments at
the Royal Oak. Although it still exists, there is less division over the
High street to Ship in frontage leading options.

3.15

Many of the leading options are constrained by industry guidance and
aspects such as habitat regulations and the conservation and heritage
aspects of the location. A full appraisal of all the options available has
been undertaken and the most technically appropriate, environmentally
sustainable, financially affordable and socially acceptable options have
been arrived at.

3.16

Key regulators have been involved in the development of the options
including Natural England, The Environment Agency, Historic England,
The Local Planning Authority, Langstone Harbour Board and
Chichester Harbour Conservancy.

3.17

This report seeks a cabinet decision to support the leading options
being proposed and take them forward into detailed design.

Page 20

4.0

Additional Budgetary Implications

4.1

There are no budgetary implications as a result of the decisions set out
in this report. Funding for the Detailed Design stage has been fully
secured through HBC Community Infrastructure Levy. See resources
section 8 for information on costs and funding.

5.0

Background and relationship to the Corporate Strategy and
Directorate Business Plan/s

5.1

HBC as the coast protection authority is not legally required to do
anything to protect against flooding and erosion however, it has
permissive powers to carry out such works where there is a wide public
benefit, clear economic benefit and an achievable solution.

5.2

Private landowners are responsible for flood and erosion protection on
their own land. They must act within statutory planning regulations and
other applicable legislation.

5.3

The Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) process is
built around a hierarchy of plans and schemes which enable Local
Authorities, such as HBC, to plan their work to manage coastal risks. In
England there is a 3-tiered approach to coastal management:
Shoreline Management Plan (SMP); Coastal Strategy; Coastal Scheme.

5.4

The first East Solent SMP was approved and adopted in 1997, setting
out the strategic management options to manage coastal risk to people,
the developed, historic and natural environment over 100 years. The
preferred management policy along the Langstone frontage was to
‘Hold The Line’.

5.5

This SMP was updated with the North Solent Shoreline Management
Plan (SMP2), adopted by HBC (Full Council), and approved by the
Environment Agency in 2010.
The SMP2 management policy for the Langstone frontage, over the
next three Epochs (100 years) is ‘Hold the Line’.

5.6

In order to manage and understand how to implement this SMP policy
the Environment Agency (EA), with support from HBC, developed the
Portchester to Emsworth FCERM Strategy which recommended
sustaining the flood protection to Langstone to a minimum 1 in 75 year
(1.33% AEP) standard of protection over the next 100 years. This was
adopted by HBC (Cabinet) in March 2013 and approved by the
Environment Agency the same year.

Page 21

5.7

The Langstone FCERM Study and Scheme is recognised as critical to
the delivery of the Draft Local Plan, to ensure safe access and egress
onto Hayling Island by protecting the road from flooding and erosion.
As such it is the number 1 priority project on the Community
Infrastructure Levy list of projects in terms of receiving funding.

5.8

The Langstone Scheme supports the following Pre-submission Local
Plan Policies
C2 Tourism
DR2 Regeneration
E13 Historic Environment and Heritage Asset
E14 The Local Ecological Network
E15 Protected Species
E16 Solent Special Protection Area
E17 Solent Wader and Brent Goose feeding and roosting sites
E2 Health and Wellbeing
E4 Development on the Coast
E5 Chichester Harbour Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
IN1 Effective Provision of Infrastructure

6.0

Scheme Benefits

6.1

Direct - Flood and Erosion Risk
An economic appraisal has been developed for this study in line with
the HM Treasury and Environment Agency FCERM Appraisal
Guidance (FCERM-AG, 2010). This is available on request.
The do-nothing cash damages for the 50-year core scheme are £24.6
million (or £10.5 million in discounted present value terms). Appendix
2 provides an overview of the direct and indirect benefits of undertaking
a scheme at Langstone.

6.2

Indirect - Commuter Disruption
Over 70% of those of working age commute off and onto the island
using a car and 84% of those living on the island use a car as their
main form of transport (2011 CENUS Data). As part of an adjacent
study a Gross Value Added (GVA) assessment has been undertaken
to estimate the economic damages caused by flood disruption to
commuter journeys along the A3023 from Hayling Island.
In summary, the economic damages associated with disruption to
commuters is estimated to be almost £20 million over the next 100
years (£4million in discounted present value terms).
Although 55% of those leaving the island are travelling to other areas
of Havant, several other locations are listed as destinations (from a
resident survey) including Chichester, Fareham, London, Portsmouth
and Southampton, which demonstrates the large spatial economic
impact of the A3023 flooding.

6.3

Indirect - Impact on business

Page 22

The first round and dynamic economic impacts of the do-nothing
scheme option scenario have been calculated to highlight other local
economic impacts as part of the evidence base. The results showed
that over the next 10 years the existing business disruption to the 2
public houses located adjacent to the frontage could collectively
amount to £231k through loss of earnings. Not taking into account the
displacement of employees.
6.4

Indirect - Tourism and Recreation Disruption
The potential impact of flooding on tourism and recreation around
greenspaces within Langstone has been estimated using Exeter
University’s Outdoor Recreation Valuation (Orval) tool and an analysis
of coastal visitor surveys which were conducted within Langstone.
ORVal estimates showed that there is an average of 43,147 visits to
Langstone each year for outdoor recreation, worth a welfare value of
£178,147. Doing nothing would amount to losing this value on an
annual basis.

6.5

Recreation and coastal access are also of huge importance to the local
community and the scheme will improve coastal access in line with
present day regulation around accessibility.

6.6

Indirect - Mental Health Benefits
The project team engaged with the EA's Flood & Coastal Risk
Management Research team to investigate how emerging guidance on
mental health benefits could be applied to Langstone. The Flood
Hazards Research Centre calculated the additional losses that the new
mental health data would produce, using all of the different possible
applications of the mental health data. The most likely technique that
will be approved in any updated FCERM funding guidance showed the
potential for an additional £398,627 of additional economic losses in
relation to mental health if nothing is done.

6.7

Indirect - Heritage and Conservation
Langstone sits within a conservation area and is of huge historical
importance to the region. Preserving this for future generations is an
important driver for the scheme. It is noted by HBC’s Conservation
officer that intervention in the form of a scheme may serve to protect
heritage impacts in Langstone more than doing nothing – a scenario
where heritage features would be lost to erosion and flooding.

6.8

Indirect - Non-Quantified Spill over Impacts:
Flooding and erosion are likely to lead to a number of additional
impacts to the local economy which have not been quantified as part of
the GVA assessment for this study. These impacts are known as
'spillover' impacts and include:
Agglomeration impacts: should FCERM measures be put in place at
Langstone to reduce the flood and erosion risk, this could incentivise
the existing businesses to remain in their current preferred location and

Page 23

benefit from the productivity gains associated with proximity to other
similar businesses, for example, sharing ideas, knowledge, supply
chains etc.
Interdependencies: FCERM measures will not only protect homes and
businesses they will also protect the key public infrastructure on which
businesses and the local economy relies upon. FCERM measures
would therefore help to avoid disruptions associated with power
outages, transport (affecting workers, customers or deliveries),
communications and water supply.
Business confidence: an increase in flood risk could affect business
confidence which in turn could lead to decreased business investment
and reduced productivity (or increased investment and productivity if
FCERM measures are implemented).
Insurance: FCERM measures could lead to a reduction in the cost of
insurance which in turn can affect credit because flooding insurance (in
certain locations) is often required by lenders. At the time of writing this
report further national research and guidance is required to investigate
the link between FCERM measures and insurance to gauge the
significance of this.
7.0

Options considered and recommendation

7.1

A full suite of options was tested in line with the FCERM Appraisal
Guidance and in collaboration with the regulators. The following
sections set out the leading options per shoreline frontage and where
relevant sets out the alternative options explored following the further
detailed engagement undertaken following concern from some parts of
the community.

7.2

The strategic proposed approach is to develop an adaptive FCERM
scheme with a 50yr design life and which offers a present day 1/200yr
standard of protection. At the end of the design life, if sea levels rise at
the rate currently predicted, the scheme will offer a 1/75yr standard of
protection.

7.3

This approach is in line with the Portchester to Emsworth Strategy
which recommends a minimum 1 in 75 year Standard of protection and
to take an adaptive approach to Flood risk at Langstone. Towards the
end of the 50 year design life the approach for the next epoch will need
to be considered, along with the latest understanding and records of
the impacts of climate change, and the solution adopted may be
different at that time. It is worth noting that the difference between a
1/75 and 1/200 year standard of protection, in terms of still water levels
within the harbour, is within the range of 7-10cm (present day).

Page 24

7.4

Do Nothing is a baseline option considered for all FCERM schemes to
understand the impacts so that they can be compared to the Do
Something options.
Doing Nothing was discounted as an option early on in the study
process because it does not deliver the objectives of the adopted SMP
or the adopted Portchester to Emsworth FCERM Strategy. It also does
not meet the criteria or intent under which the funding was provided by
the Southern RFCC and HBC CIL to undertake the study.
However, if no agreement can be reached or no decision is made to
take the project forward this would be the default position for HBC. In
this instance residents and landowners would, as is currently the case,
be responsible for managing their own risks in terms of flooding and
erosion. Under a Do Nothing scenario any future failure or
maintenance of the defence here is not and would not be the
responsibility of HBC under the current legislation.

7.5

The Leading Options for cabinet approval are listed / presented in the
following sections. Appendix 3 depicts a map with the frontage unit
names and Appendix 4 shows visualisations (where available) and
alignments of the leading options. For the purposes of the study the
frontage was broken down into Option Development Units (ODU) and
then further sub sections dependant on the most appropriate defence
types for that location.
ODU 1: Langstone West, between the east bank of the Langbrook
Stream to the edge of the formal defences at the northern end of
Langstone Spit
ODU 2: Sailing club and Langstone Spit, including the spit, sailing club
and A3023 revetment
ODU 3; Langstone East, between the Ship Inn car park and the Old
Mill slipway
ODU 4: Old Mill and Mill pond, between the Old Mill slipway and the
slipway to the north east of the Mill pond.

7.6

ODU1 – Langstone West
ODU1a – Setback Earth Embankment
OCU1b – Capital refurbishment of existing wall
Recommendation to approve the leading outline design options
for the entirety of ODU1 and carry forward into detailed design.

Page 25

Noting that this entire unit does not form part of the core scheme and
will only be constructed subject to securing additional funding from the
private landowners or an alternative source.

7.7

ODU2 - Sailing club and Langstone Spit
ODU2a – Rock Armour
ODU2b – Earth Embankment (south section) and raised footpath
(north section)
Recommendation to approve the leading outline design options
for the entirety of ODU2 and carry forward into detailed design.
Noting that ODU2a frontage does not form part of the core scheme and
will only be constructed subject to securing additional funding from the
private landowners/Sailing Club or an alternative source.

7.8

ODU3 – Langstone East
This is the most contentious frontage in terms of polarised community
views on the options and where the most additional investigation has
been undertaken to reach a decision on recommended leading options.
Where alternatives have been explored an explanation of them is given
alongside a rationale as to why those alternatives were not selected. In
general there was good support for the options which relate to the Ship
Inn.
ODU3b – Flip Up Barrier or flood gate across the Ship Inn Car Park.
ODU3d/e – Food Wall with glass top
ODU3f/g/h – Flood Wall with board walk (or similar structure)
The options along ODU3f/g/h received mixed views from the
community engagement undertaken. During the public consultation
events in Jan 2020 49% (of the 86 responses) supported or partially
supported the leading options, 38% partially did not support or did not
support at all and 13% were undecided.
The current leading options are constrained by the environmentally
designated foreshore and in places property boundary walls to the rear.
Encroachment onto the intertidal habitats is not acceptable under the
habitat regulations if an alternative option exists (such as the

Page 26

boardwalk or similar structure), so a widening of the footpath is not
appropriate or acceptable to the regulator Natural England.
Utilising or rebuilding the existing properties boundary wall is not
believed, at this outline stage, to be technically possible due to the
varying ground levels to the rear and the poor structural integrity of the
existing wall. However, during the next stage of the project this will be
tested further to see if the wall can be used and if it can this will reduce
the need for the footpath/boardwalk to encroach out into the harbour.
The look, feel, finish, materials used for the footpath or similar structure
will be decided at the next stage of the project in collaboration with all
parties.
When rebuilding the prom and the flood wall at the back of the path the
recommendations in the Department for Transport’s Guidance
Inclusive Mobility (2005) promote a foot pedestrian path width of 2.0m,
and minimum of 1.5m. These widths are best practice and the disability
discrimination act requires that reasonable adjustments need to be
made. New building or modifications are a way to plan and deliver this
adjustment. HBC should use the refurbishment as an opportunity to
make those reasonable adjustments and the Inclusive Mobility
Guidance indicates what levels of adjustment should be made.
Given that encroachment into the foreshore is not acceptable a
boardwalk or similar structure is proposed to maintain access and
maintain path width. Whilst this still encroaches or shadows the
foreshore it does so less to less of a degree than a solid structure.
The ability to build a solid footpath structure outward onto the
foreshore, given the perceived Heritage Impacts of a boardwalk by
some parts of the Langstone community, was re-explored with Natural
England, the Local Planning Authority and the conservation officer at
HBC at a meeting on the 28th April 2020. Their collective advice
remained that the boardwalk or similar overhanging structure was the
appropriate option along this frontage to maintain access and the
Public Right of Way. They confirmed that a no path option is not
acceptable, a wider footprint structure is not preferable on
environmental grounds (which in this location would not be outweighed
by heritage concerns). Therefore, weighing up the evidence, the
boardwalk or similar structure proposal is the most appropriate option
available to take forward.
Maintaining access was raised as a high priority by the community as
an outcome of any scheme, a point which was re-iterated at the
residents workshop held in March 2020. Removing the footpath entirely
would not be acceptable to many and is something Natural England
would not be able to support given it would direct foot traffic onto the
designated foreshore.

Page 27

The recommendation to cabinet is therefore to approve the current
leading option of a floodwall and boardwalk/footpath, or similar
structure, as the deliverable option in this location.
ODU3i – Flood Proof Existing Building or Flood Wall and Boardwalk
(detail to be confirmed during the detailed design stage of the project)
ODU3j – Flood Gate
ODU3k – Frontline Floodwall in front of the Royal Oak to Slipway
ODU3k has been one of the most contentious frontages given the
potential visual impacts of the 1.1-1.3m high floodwall on top of the
existing quay wall proposed in front of the Royal Oak and properties
here.
During the public consultation in Jan 2020 34% (of the 82 responses)
supported or partially supported the leading options, 60% partially did
not support or did not support at all and 6% were undecided.
Following a further public workshop on the 9th March with the
Langstone SOS group, frontline residents and other key stakeholders
the option of diverting the flood defence behind the Royal Oak and
cottages along this frontage was suggested. As part of this option the
promenade in front of the Royal Oak would be built as an erosion
protection structure only. Working with the professional services
consultancy AECOM the project team undertook further appraisal work
to explore this alternative option at additional cost to the project.
Appendix 5 illustrates the additional potential route alignments which
were evaluated.
These included


A - The current leading frontline option which provides flood and
erosion protection to all properties. Cost ~ £4.5 - £5.1 million,
present value benefits ~£10.5 million.



B - An option to leave the Royal Oak Frontage out of the
scheme completely but continue to provide flood protection to
the majority of Langstone Village. No change visually but accept
over time the defences would fail and the responsibility for
flooding and erosion to the properties behind remains the
responsibility of the landowners. Cost ~£3.7 - £4.2million,
present value benefits ~ £9.4million.



C - An option to run between the high street properties into the
field behind and to only provide erosion protection to the Royal
Oak and Cottages but continue to provide flood protection to the

Page 28

majority of Langstone Village. Cost ~ £4.2 - £4.9million, present
value benefits ~ £9.7million.
To ensure the wider communities views on the options being
investigated were taken into account in the decision-making process
nearly 500 leaflets were dropped to the properties of residents in
Langstone with questionnaires giving them the opportunity to indicate
their preference in terms of the options listed above. The questionnaire
and website information and links were also sent out to the Langstone
Stakeholder Working Group Members, frontline residents and SOS
group via email so that they could ensure the wider community were
made aware of the questionnaire should it be overlooked or not
received. Some reported not receiving the leaflet, where ESCP were
made aware further leaflets were issued.
Out of the 108 responses received


61% said their preference was Option A (Projects leading
option)



16% said their preference was Option B (No protection to royal
Oak)



13% said their preference was Option C (Erosion protection only
to Royal Oak



10% said they did not support any of the options.

The frontline residents in the cottages along this frontage are
concerned about flood risk and do not support being left out of the flood
protection scheme. However, whilst some of them strongly support
option A, others do not support any of the options.
Members of the SOS group and some residents reported to the project
team that they did not intend to respond to the consultation because
they felt it was potentially misleading without further detail. This was
unfortunate given that no further detail exists at this stage of the project
and given that the scope of the project was extended considerably in
response to the request to investigate alternative options along the
Royal Oak frontage.
A meeting was held with Greene King, owners of the Royal Oak pub on
the 6th May 2020 to explore their views on the options. They have been
involved in the project and the development of the options since it
began. Their view is that having a new quay wall with a flood wall on
top offers the best outcome for the Royal Oak pub, accepting there will
be some impacts on views. This was confirmed formally in writing.
They are keen to be further involved in the Detailed Design stage to
understand how the impacts on views from the Royal Oak can be
managed and how they can contribute.

Page 29

It is recognised that there are polarised views within the community.
However the regulators Natural England, The Local Planning Authority,
Chichester Harbour conservancy and HBC’s Conservation officer are
supportive of the preferred options and as previously noted the
Conservation officers view is that intervention in the form of a scheme
may serve to protect heritage impacts in Langstone more than doing
nothing – a scenario where heritage features would be lost to erosion
and flooding.
The recommendation to cabinet is therefore to approve the current
leading frontline option in this location which provides flood and erosion
protection to all properties.
This is based on a balanced consideration of the higher return on
investment in terms of benefits provided, the support of the some of the
frontline residents who live along this frontage, the Royal Oaks
preference on the options, the views of the regulators and the wider
community views sought through several engagement exercises.
Whilst it is a complex frontage with many different views on the right
solution a Cabinet decision will provide clarity for the project and the
next stage and avoid uncertainty and additional costs of change in the
future as the project progresses. Throughout the detailed design stage
every effort will be made to minimise the impacts on views and heritage
in close collaboration with the community and residents affected, the
LPA and conservation officer, Chichester Harbour conservancy and the
Greene King.
ODU3i - Setback floodwall (footpath section) and earth
embankment (field area)
Recommendation to approve the leading outline design options
for the entirety of ODU3 and carry forward into detailed design.
7.9

ODU4 – Old Mill and Mill Pond
Following engagement with the landowner options were explored for
this frontage but do not form part of the core scheme.
ODU4a - The leading options for this frontage are Demountable
Defences and Property level protection for the Old Mill
ODU4b – Floodwall
Any further investigations of works to this frontage will remain the
responsibility of the landowner.
No recommendation to cabinet as this frontage will not form part
of any future public works.

Page 30

7.10

Wider Strategic Options
A resident and former member of the Langstone SOS group lobbied for
the option of a harbour wide barrage to be reconsidered as a more
strategic option. In response, and to demonstrate that HBC is open to
ideas from the community, the project team commissioned AECOM to
re look at this option and a technical note was produced which showed
that whilst it was technically possible, the prohibitive cost and
detrimental environmental impacts of the option meant it was
undeliverable under the current framework; which was why it was
originally discounted as a credible option.
Both Natural England and The Chichester Harbour Conservancy wrote
to the project team to indicate that they would object to such an option.
The background to the work, all of its outputs and the letters from
Natural England and the Chi Harbour Conservancy are all are available
at - https://www.escp.org.uk/Community-Proposed-Options

8.0

Resource Implications

8.1

Financial Implications

8.2

A core scheme has been identified. At present it is estimated that the
future cost of this scheme is in the region of £4.5 – £5.1 million (cash
including appraisal costs).

8.3

The outline design stage of the project has now been completed and
was seed funded by the Southern Regional Flood and Coastal
Committee levy (£301k) and HBC CIL (£75k). This funding has been
secured and spent. Additional allocated CIL funds have also been
spent to undertake further engagement with concerned residents and
to investigate alternative defence alignments and options following
concerns raised by the SOS group. Approved CIL spending set out in
Full Council Meeting minutes - 27th February 2019.

8.4

To undertake the detailed design and construction of the capital project
stage, the project team have identified or are actively seeking the
following funding sources of funding.
£2,550,000 HBC CIL – Secured. To undertake detailed design
(estimated ~ £600k) and contribute towards construction.
£191,000 Southern Regional Flood and Coastal Committee Levy –
Previously allocated but subject to business case after detailed design.
£600,000 Southern Regional Flood and Coastal Committee Levy –
allocated following a bid in April 2020.

Page 31

~£600,000 Flood Defence Grant in Aid – Allocated subject to business
case after detailed design.
£250,000 – Hampshire County Council (HCC) have responsibility for a
right of way and own some sections of the shoreline at Langstone,
alongside having highway responsibility for the road bridge onto
Hayling Island. There have been very positive conversations with HCC
who have written to the project team to commit to contribute towards
the scheme given its positive impact on protecting the highway
infrastructure, the bridge to Hayling and the public right of way from
flooding and erosion. The figure stated is to be re-confirmed following
Covid -19 impacts on budgets. HCC are also hoping to contribute in
kind by offering free compound space during construction.
£400,000 Highways England EDF – 2nd round application submitted,
awaiting decision. Given the potential impact of flooding on their
strategic road network.
TBC - Public House Brewery Contributions; currently engaging with 2
Breweries. At present their contribution is likely to be through waiving
any compensation they may be entitled too during construction. In kind
figures to be determined as detailed design progresses but likely to be
in the region of £50-100k.
TBC – Utilities companies whose assets will be protected by the
scheme in certain locations inc; Portsmouth Water, Southern Water,
BT, Scottish and Southern Electric and Southern Gas Network. After
significant engagement many of them have provided in kind free
mapping and advice, value to TBC. At the construction stage
Portsmouth Water have indicated they may waive relocation or
diversion costs as it offers them an opportunity to undertake works.
TBC - Resident and private landowner contributions; being engaged.
8.5

At present the core scheme requires an additional £650k – £1.25m. We
recognise that the scheme costs will only be certain at the end of the
detailed design stage and when we submit our outline business case to
the Environment Agency for grant. So, these estimates of cost may go
up or down, but it is important to have the funding secured and profiled
at the right time to bring certainty to the scheme and gain buy in from
all funding partners.

8.6

There will be continuing discussion with all funding partners throughout
the detailed design stage of the project in order to close the current
funding gap and seek contributions towards the construction and
ongoing maintenance costs for the 50 year design life of the scheme.
Once there is certainty on project costings the funding partners will be
engaged again directly to seek funding contributions.

Page 32

8.7

Future maintenance of structures and the operation of flood gates will
be necessary. Where HBC construct new defences on private or land
of unknown ownership clear arrangements will need to be made as to
who is liable for ongoing maintenance of structures. This will be
determined during the detailed design stage of the project. Generally,
however, where defences are constructed by a Risk Management
Authority the future maintenance of those structures becomes their
responsibility in terms of health and safety and also in ensuring that
they operate as intended.

8.8

As a Landowner, HBC have a duty of care to their neighbouring
landowners.

9.0

Human Resources Implications
There are no Human Resource implications

10.0

Legal Implications

10.1

HBC as the coast protection authority is not legally required to do
anything to protect against flooding and erosion, however it has
permissive powers to carry out works where there is a wider public
benefit, clear economic benefit and an achievable solution. For
example, protecting the only road bridge onto Hayling from flooding
and erosion whilst also protecting an existing Langstone community.

10.2

Private landowners are responsible for flood and erosion protection on
their own land. They must act within statutory planning regulations and
other applicable legislation.

10.3

Any future works will be carried out under the Land Drainage Act 1991,
or Coast Protection Act 1949, where Havant Borough Council have
permissive powers to act in the public interest; doing so only when
there is:
-

a clear economic benefit;
an appropriate engineering solution can be achieved; and,
no contravention of environmental legislation.

10.4

The Council is required to comply with procurement regulations when
carrying out the procurement of public contracts; this report proposes
entering into a contract for a value exceeding the EU procurement
threshold and therefore the exercise must comply with the full EU
regime. This report proposes to utilise an existing EU framework
arrangement which will appropriately manage and greatly reduce any
risk of non-compliance.

11.0

Risks

Page 33

11.1

The risks of Doing Nothing are presented in section 6 above.

11.2

The detailed design works will comply with the latest Construction,
Design & Management (CDM) regulations.

11.3

Risks to the Council will be minimised by the normal contract
procedures and requirements for any future works.

11.4

Any current health and safety risks are being managed through regular
inspections monitoring of the condition of the structure. However, this
will become increasingly difficult to manage as defences continue to
deteriorate.

11.5

As is currently the case HBC have no responsibility for maintaining
structures in private or unknown ownership. Private owners also have
no obligation to maintain their own defences. There is an increasing
risk that if no further design or construction work is progressed it is
expected that many of the structures could be at risk of collapse and
significant failure requiring an emergency response and with potential
loss of buildings, infrastructure and possibly life.

12.0

Design Contract

12.1

In order to deliver the detailed design stage of the work a design
consultant will be appointed through the Coastal Services Professional
Services Framework Agreement

12.2

The Professional Services Framework Agreement is a multi-supplier
framework which as available to 22 contracting authorities on the south
coast to procure services in relation to FCERM. The framework
commenced in May 2016 with an initial term of 4 years and optional
extensions of up to 8 further years. This has currently been extended
by 18 months.

12.3

The framework has been procured following a full OJEU compliant
procurement as detailed in Contract Notice No. 441754-2015-EN (Dec
2015) and Award Notice No. 300561-2016-EN (Aug 2016). The
frameworks have been set up and are managed by the Eastern Solent
Coastal Partnership, with Portsmouth City Council acting as the host
authority.

12.4

A mini-bid for professional services is intended in Autumn 2020 for the
detailed design phase of the project. The HBC Capita Procurement
Service will support ESCP throughout the tender process.

12.5

It is intended to procure this contract using the NEC Professional
Services Contract using Option G (term contract). Option G allows for
work activities to be called off a priced task order schedule. Where

Page 34

work is procured that isn’t included in a task order a priced schedule of
rates is used to determine the activity’s value.
12.6

This type of contract enables a degree of flexibility as well maintaining
access to the Detailed Designer throughout the construction period.

12.7

With this option it is anticipated that the total contract value will change
as the project progresses. Cost and Time changes are managed
through Change Events which are approved through the project
governance process. It is important that the project team are able to
respond in a timely manner to such change events, which occur as a
normal part of any contract.

12.8

As such specific delegation to the Head of Service for Change Event
approval is being requested given that the total contract value will
exceed individual sign off limits in this case.

12.9

The total value of the detailed design phase costs are estimated at
£600,000 - £700,000, while it is anticipated that the external
professional services will account for approximately £250,000 £400,000.
Recommendation to delegate authority to the head of coastal
partnership, acting in consultation with the portfolio holder, S151
officer and monitoring officer, to appoint professional services
and approve Change Events to the NEC Professional Services
Contract, given that the total contract value (estimated to be
£250k - ~£400k) exceeds individual sign off limits in this case. All
in compliance with procurement requirements.

12.10 A further Council Decision will be required, following the approximate
24-month detail design phase, before appointing a contractor and
moving into the construction phase of the project. At that point there
will be more certainty over the construction and ongoing maintenance
costs associated with the project.
13.0

Consultation

13.1

Community views form an important part of the wider overall
assessment of FCERM options which also includes investigating what’s
technically possible, environmentally acceptable and financially
affordable. Given differing vested interests in coastal projects there are
often polarised views of what is acceptable in terms of change at the
coast.

13.2

Extensive public and statutory consultation was undertaken for the
1997 Shoreline Management Plan and the updated 2010 Shoreline
Management Plan.

Page 35

13.3

Extensive consultation took place as part of the Portchester to
Emsworth FCERM strategy (2013).

13.4

The Outline Design stage of the project has been guided by a detailed
communications and engagement plan. As part of this work a
Langstone Stakeholder Working Group (LSWG) was set up at the start
of the project made up of key parties in the community, landowners and
the public houses.
The LSWG was made up of representatives from - Langstone
Residents Association, Langstone Village Association, Civic society /
Solent Protection Society, Langstone Sailing Club, Langstone
Conservation Group, Langstone Cutters rowing club, Chichester
Harbour Conservancy, Langstone Harbour Board, Greene King, Fullers,
HBC and HCC Cllrs, private landowners and individuals.

13.5

The group had a Terms of Reference with an aim to - Create a
collaborative partnership between key stakeholders in the Langstone
area and the project team at the Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership
(ESCP)/ Havant Borough Council (HBC) to represent the local
community through the Langstone Option Appraisal Study.

13.6

3 meetings and workshops were held at key project stages to seek
views and feedback from the community to inform and influence option
development. The intention was that the representatives of the group
would act as a conduit for information between the project and the
public and vice versa, to create a culture of no surprises. It is
acknowledged that this did not work as hoped and the group was
unable to manage individual voices and priorities from making separate
representations.

13.7

Public exhibitions were held in November 2018 to show the shortlisted
options to the public and seek their views. The results of this were used
to shape the selection of the leading options.

13.8

All frontline homeowners and landowners were met on an individual
basis within their homes to show them the leading options and talk to
them about their views on the proposals, before wider public exhibitions
were held. This consisted of 11 individual meetings.

13.9

In Nov 2019 the SOS Langstone group was formed by 6 residents in
response to concerns from some parts of the community over the
options being presented. They produced a website and brochures and
held a public meeting.

13.10 Public exhibitions were held in Jan 2020 to seek public views on the
leading options. Leaflets, brochures and online questionnaires were
produced.

Page 36

13.11 In Jan 2020 the project team and the HBC deputy leader met with the
SOS Langstone group to further understand their concerns and
subsequently a community workshop was held on the 9th March to reexamine the options and concerns and set out to the community the
process which has been followed. This was a positive meeting and
there was agreement that some of the options be re-examined to be
certain that the right options are taken forward.
13.12 In June 2020 a survey was developed to seek further community views
on the alternative alignment options for the Royal Oak frontage (refer to
section 7.8).
13.13 All of the engagement and consultation has been thoroughly taken into
account when developing, shaping, determining and finally
recommending the options set out in this report for Cabinet Decision.
13.14 Despite extensive liaison and discussion with concerned residents
some do not agree that the correct guidance has been followed in
determining scheme options, that the natural environment must be
prioritised over heritage due to environmental law, or that a harbour
wide barrage is not deliverable. Despite extensive follow up work to
understand these concerns and provide evidence and re-assurance
these views remain.
13.15 Whilst the community views remain polarised along some frontages,
76% (out of 85 responses) from the consultation in Jan 2020 agreed
that there was a need to reduce flood and erosion risk to the Langstone
community.
13.16 Following the exhibition events in January 2020 and workshop in
March 2020, detailed reports and the community responses can be
found on our webpage https://www.escp.org.uk/langstone.
13.17 Given the strongly polarised views within the community there may be
future challenges to the planning process at the end of the detailed
design stage of the project. This will be mitigated through engagement
with regulators and the community.
14.0

Communication

14.1

The communications and engagement plan will be further developed
for the detailed design stage of the project and remain a live document.

14.2

The coastal partnership maintains a webpage providing further details
on the history, progress, plans for the Langstone Scheme.

14.3

There will be continued liaison with the Langstone Community
throughout the detailed design stage via letters, brochures, exhibitions
and workshops at key stages.

Page 37

Appendices:
APPENDIX 1
APPENDIX 2
APPENDIX 3
APPENDIX 4
APPENDIX 5
APPENDIX 6

Present day and Future Flood Mapping
Direct Do-Nothing Flood Damages Infographic
Option Development Unit Map
Leading Options per Option Development Unit
Alternative Route Alignments Considered for Royal
Oak Frontage
Public Engagement and Consultation Outcomes

Previous Background Papers:


Cabinet Meeting – 20th October 2010. Recommendation to
adopt North Solent Shoreline Management Plan Policy and
Action plan Items.



Council Meeting– 15th December 2010. Decision to adopt
North Solent Shoreline Management Plan Policy and Action
plan Items.



Cabinet Meeting – 20th March 2013 – Recommendation and
decision to adopt the Portchester to Emsworth FCERM
Strategy coastal management options.



Cabinet Meeting Minutes –13th February 2019 –
Recommendation for CIL spending on Langstone Study /
Scheme and Hayling Strategy.



Council Meeting–27th February 2019 – Recommendation to
approve CIL spending on Langstone Study / Scheme and
Hayling Strategy.

Relevant Websites:
North Solent SMP
http://www.northsolentsmp.co.uk/
Portchester to Emsworth FCERM Strategy
http://www.escp.org.uk/portchester-castle-emsworth-strategy
Langstone Project Website
https://www.escp.org.uk/langstone
Environment Agency FCERM Guidance
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-and-coastal-defence-appraisal-of-projects

Page 38

Agreed and signed off by:
Monitoring Officer: Daniel Toohey & David Brown (21/08/2020)
S151 Officer: Lydia Morrison (24/08/2020)
Director: Simon Jenkins (06/07/2020)
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Turner (16/07/2020)

Contact Officer:
Job Title:
Telephone:
E-Mail:

Mark Stratton
Coastal Policy, Strategy & Environment Team Manager
02392 446009
Mark.Stratton@Havant.gov.uk

Page 39

APPENDIX 1

Present day and Future Flood Mapping

Present day with present management and future 1/200 yr flood mapping with no
defences in place

Page 40

APPENDIX 2

Direct Do-Nothing Flood Damages Infographic

Page 41

APPENDIX 3

Option Development Unit Boundary Maps

Options per ODU

Page 42

Core Scheme Alignment

Page 43

APPENDIX 4

Leading Options per Option Development Unit

ODU 1 – Mill Lane and Harbourside 1a-b

Figure 1: ODU 1 Location map and alignment

Figure 2: Sketch showing indicative earth embankment cross section (not to scale) in ODU 1a set
back alignment

Page 44

Figure 3: Sketch of indicative cross section of encasement (capital refurbishment) of seawall in
ODU 1b

Page 45

ODU 2 – Langstone Sailing Club and Langstone Spit (2a-b)

Figure 4: ODU 2 Location map and final alignment

Figure 5: Sketch showing indicative earth embankment cross section (not to scale) in south
section of ODU 2b

Page 46

ODU 3 Langstone Village – The Ship (ODU 3b-3c)

Figure 6: ODU 3b-c Location Map and final alignment

Figure 7: Sketch of indicative flip-up floodwall across car park in ODU 3b (not to scale)

Page 47

Figure 8: Sketch of indicative glass topped floodwall cross section for ODUs 3d-3e (not to scale)

Figure 9: ODU 3d-e Design visuals of the glass-topped flood wall and Flip-up floodwall
(visualisations are purely examples and should not be taken literally at this stage)

Page 48

ODU 3 Langstone Village – Coastal Footpath (ODU 3f-i)

Figure 10: ODU 3f-i Location Map and final alignment

Page 49

Figure 11: Sketch of indicative boardwalk and floodwall cross section in ODUs 3f-h, using timber
piles (not to scale)

Figure 12: ODU 3f-h Design Visuals of the setback flood wall with boardwalk (visualisations are
purely examples and should not be taken literally at this stage)

Page 50

ODU 3 – Langstone Village – Royal Oak (ODUj-k)

Figure 13: ODU 3j-k Location map and final alignment

Figure 14: Sketch showing indicative elevation drawing of the flood gates at ODU 3j (not to scale)

Page 51

Figure 15: Sketch showing indicative cross section of frontline floodwall at ODU 3k (not to scale)

Figure 16: ODU3k Design Visuals of the Seawall around the Royal Oak frontage (visualisations
are purely examples and should not be taken literally at this stage)

Page 52

Figure 17: Sketch of indicative floodwall cross section along the footpath (looking south) (not to
scale)

Figure 18: Sketch of indicative earth embankment section (through field) not to scale

Page 53

APPENDIX 5

Alternative Route Alignments Considered for
Royal Oak Frontage

Figure 19: Leading option and alignment, comprising of a flood gate across Langstone High
Street, replacement of quay with new sea wall around the Royal Oak and flood wall and
embankment to the north

Figure 20: Alternative alignment comprising a floodwall adjacent to the Winkle Market leading
to flood gates in Langstone High Street, a floodwall extending north from the High Street leading
to an embankment in the field to the north. No defence works undertaken along the Royal Oak
frontage

Page 54

Figure 21: Same as Alignment B, but with a new quay wall fronting the Royal Oak and adjacent
cottages for erosion protection. The possibility of a handrail would be needed to meet current
health and Safety.

Page 55

APPENDIX 6

Public Engagement and Consultation
Outcomes

https://www.escp.org.uk/langstone
https://www.escp.org.uk/sites/default/files/Langstone%20Exhibition%20Report%20F
inal_REDACTED.pdf

Page 56

Agenda Item 7
PART-EXEMPT

HAVANT BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET

28 October 2020

Disposal of former landfill site known as Brockhampton West
FOR DECISION
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Michael Wilson
Key Decision: Yes
Report Number: HBC/013/2020
1.

Purpose
1.1.

This paper is submitted to Cabinet for authority to dispose of the
freehold interest of the site known as Brockhampton West
(outlined in red on the location plan at Appendix 1) in
accordance with the Cabinet resolution of 20th March 2019
(minute 139) and s123 of the Local Government Act 1972.

1.2.

The report sets out:
a.

an options appraisal that was undertaken to determine the
most effective way to bring the site forward to meet the
objectives of the March 2019 Cabinet Resolution;

b.

the outcome of site investigations to determine the level of
contamination on the site and the implications on development
options;

c.

the outcome of a market assessment and soft market testing to
establish commercial interest in the site;

d.

the evaluation process used to compare the value of the
financial bids submitted to the Council and arrive at a
recommended preferred bidder.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

Members are requested to approve:

2.2

the disposal of the land for best value in line with the outcome of the
options appraisal carried out subsequent to the 20 March 2019
Cabinet Resolution and;

Page 57

1

2.3

where 2.2 is agreed, the evaluation criteria (set out in Appendix 3 of
this report) as the mechanism for selecting a preferred bidder and;

2.4

where 2.2 and 2.3 are agreed, the outcome of the evaluation
process and the selection of the preferred bidder (set out in
Appendix 4 of this report) as overseen by the Director of
Regeneration and Place in line with the 20th March 2019 Cabinet
Resolution and;

2.5

where 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4 are agreed, the instruction of the Director of
Regeneration and Place, in consultation with the Section 151
Officer, to exchange contracts and complete the sale of the land to
the preferred bidder in line with the terms set out in this report.
(confidential Annex 1 and Appendix 2);

2.6

where 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4 are agreed, the instruction of the Director of
Regeneration and Place, in consultation with the Section 151
Officer, to procure suitable environmental insurance at the
appropriate time to reduce future liability relating to contamination, in
line with the Council’s procurement rules.

3.

Executive Summary
3.1.

The report relates to the council-owned site known as
Brockhampton West (‘the site’ as outlined red on location plan at
Appendix 1) that sits between the A27 to the north and Harts
Farm Way to the south. The site forms part of the wider
Broadmarsh landfill site which continues to the south of Harts
Farm Way having Chichester Harbour as its southern boundary
(title number SH28289). The wider Broadmarsh site does not
form part of the disposal.

3.2.

The site was used for landfill from 1969 until the 1990s since
when it has been surplus to operational requirements.

3.3.

On 20th March 2019, Cabinet resolved to dispose of the site
under minute 139:
“…it was RESOLVED that the Director for Regeneration and
Place and the Head of Regeneration in consultation with the
Cabinet Lead for Property, Finance and Regeneration and the
Chief Finance Officer be instructed to: 1. achieve best value for
Brockhampton West Havant in accordance with the Local Plan
Policy C10…”

3.4.

The work to progress the disposal of the site in line with the
March 2019 Cabinet Resolution has been led by the
Regeneration team under the direction of the Director of
Regeneration and Place.

3.5.

Following an options appraisal (see appendix 4), site
investigations, market testing (see appendix 7) and considering
expert advice relating to the complex nature of the site it was
determined that best consideration would be achieved through a

Page 58

2

direct sale without the need to secure planning permission. The
site was marketed by Lambert Smith Hampton on behalf of the
Council through an informal bid process. A wide range of
financial offers were received a number of which were above the
expected values set in an independent market appraisal
commissioned by the Council.
3.6.

The bids were appraised by the project team and the Council’s
external property agent in order to determine the potential net
receipt for the Council and potential purchasers were shortlisted.
An evaluation matrix was agreed in advance of receipt of
financial bids, and subsequently by the Director of Regeneration
and Place. Legal advice was sought relating to residual liability.
A preferred purchaser has been identified and Cabinet
agreement to proceed with the sale is now sought.

3.7.

The anticipated net receipt to the Council is shown within Annex
1. The anticipated costs associated with the sale are shown in
appendix 6.

3.8.

The Council is advised that the disposal of the site for
development in full knowledge of the history and conditions of
the site will reduce the risk to the Council by transferring most of
the liability for future pollution events to the purchaser (Appendix
5).

3.9.

For the purpose of this report best consideration can also be
read as best value. It is demonstrated in this report that both
best value and best consideration would be achieved through
this transaction.

4.

Additional Budgetary Implications
4.1.

5.

None.
Background and relationship to Corporate Strategy and/or
Business Plans

5.1.

Site History
The site was originally purchased by the Urban District Council
of Havant and Waterloo between 1968 and 1970 from three
different owners.

5.2.

Evidence suggests that the site was initially used by Urban
District Council of Havant and Waterloo for landfill from 1969.
However, in the mid-1970s Hampshire County Council became
the waste disposal authority and at this point, although the site
continued to be tipped by the Urban District Council of Havant
and Waterloo, it would have been under the management of
Hampshire County Council.

5.3.

The site continued to be used for landfill until the 1990’s.
Following the closure of the landfill there was some activity on
the site relating to the construction of the adjacent teardrop

Page 59

3

junction on the A27. Records suggest that there has been no
active use since this time other than informal use by dog
walkers, as such the site has been surplus to operational
requirements.
5.4.

The site was formally registered with the Land Registry by
Havant Borough Council in 2009.

Rationale for disposal
5.5.
Local Plan – The site is identified in Policy BD11 of the Havant
Local Plan (Allocations) and allocated for commercial
development. ‘The Local Plan identifies an opportunity for a
high-quality gateway employment site that could provide up to
23,400 sq m of new manufacturing and/or warehouse
floorspace, supporting between 334 and 650 jobs.’
5.6.

Regeneration Strategy - The site was included as a key
employment site in the Opportunity Havant Regeneration
Strategy. The Regeneration Strategy was adopted by the
Council in November 2018.

5.7.

In addition to the economic benefits realised by the development
of the site, the Strategy states that the Approach to delivering
regeneration will include ‘Selective strategic use of assets
(including selective disposals with returns reinvested to deliver
further key regeneration objectives).’

5.8.

Cabinet Resolution – The disposal of the site for commercial
development was approved by Cabinet on 20 March 2019.
Cabinet resolved to dispose of the site for best value for
development in line with Policy C10 of the Local Plan.

Governance and Project Management
5.9.
Marketing of the site, selection of a preferred bidder, due
diligence and negotiation of terms of a disposal were delegated
to the Director of Regeneration and Place.
5.10.

A project group was set up comprising officers from
Regeneration, Property, Legal Services, Environmental Health,
Planning Policy and Economic Development. The Project Group
reported into Director of Regeneration and Place. Further
external expert advice was secured by way of consultant
property, legal and contamination specialists. The Strategic
Regeneration Programme Board was also provided briefings
and updates.

5.11.

While the officer project team has instructed and undertaken an
options appraisal, market testing, due diligence etc. in line with
the March 2019 Cabinet Resolution, no actions have been
undertaken to this point that place any financial or contractual
obligation on the Council. All key decisions have been brought
back to Cabinet for approval by means of this report.

Page 60

4

5.12.

Project Initiation Document (PID) – A PID for the project was
produced and shared with the Strategic Regeneration
Programme Board in line with the Council’s project management
practices. This document set out the scope of the project which,
at that time was considered to be to dispose of the site with the
benefit of Outline Planning Consent in order to realise the
greatest value. Where the scope of the project was
subsequently widened this was done in consultation with
Strategic Regeneration Programme Board and was approved by
the Director of Regeneration and Place.

Due Diligence
5.13.
Market Assessment– Prior to testing market interest in the site
an independent professional market evaluation was undertaken
on behalf of the Council by Lambert Smith Hampton. This was
based on current market intelligence and evidence from similar
sites. This provided a potential achievable value for the site (pre
due diligence and site investigations) (see Appendix 7).
5.14.

Site investigations – The Council commissioned an intrusive
ground investigation study in 2016 by White Young and Green
that examined the level of contamination on the site and the
likely requirements for remediation should the site be brought
forward for development. The report concluded that if the
Council opted to undertake the necessary remediation in order
to dispose of a ‘clean’ site, the result would be a negative value
that would make the site unviable.

5.15.

Legal view on Liability Relating to Contamination – Due to
the contaminated nature of the site, both in-house advice and
external specialist legal advice (from Womble Bond Dickinson)
relating to the Council’s current and ongoing liability for the site
was sought. Counsel’s opinion was also sought from Mathew
Reed QC who was instructed to advise on ways to mitigate risk
on disposal as well as provide advice on current liability (see
Appendix 5). The details of the legal advice relating to the
Council’s residual liability is set out in section 9 below.

5.16.

Options Appraisal
It was originally considered that the approach of selling the site
with the benefit of outline Planning Permission would increase
the potential sale value by more than the cost of securing
planning permission. Subsequent due diligence and market
testing demonstrated that, due to the complex nature and history
of the site, the cost of meeting environmental obligations
required to obtain a consent would be prohibitive. Extensive and
detailed technical surveys and due diligence relating to the
ground conditions would be required in order to fully assess the
cost of mitigating the environmental constraints. Lambert Smith
Hampton were instructed to carry out an options appraisal to

Page 61

5

determine the most effective strategy for meeting the objectives
of the Cabinet Resolution. The list of options appraised is set out
in section 6 below.

5.17.

Market testing
In order to inform the options appraisal, Lambert Smith Hampton
advised that the site could be marketed through an informal bid
process on a without prejudice basis to determine the level of
market interest. This would create a competitive environment
that provided flexibility to the Council on contract negotiations up
to the point of exchange of contracts.

5.18.

A pack of particulars (including the ground investigations
reports) was produced. Bidders were invited to submit
expressions of interest with their proposals, through Lambert
Smith Hampton, and subsequently bid for the site on both a
conditional and unconditional basis.

5.19.

Twelve expressions of interest were received from commercial
developers. Further discussion with the bidders around
development constraints and funding requirements resulted in
seven financial bids subsequently being received.

5.20.

The details of the financial bids are set out in Appendix 3. It was
clear from the level of interest and the range of bids that it would
be possible to sell the site without planning consent and realise
a value that exceeded the previous independent market
appraisal, thus demonstrating best consideration in accordance
with Section 123 of the Act.

5.21.

Evaluation of Bids
Legal and Professional Advice - The evaluation of the seven
financial bids was undertaken by the project team. This was
supplemented with specialist advice from the Economic
Development team, the Environment team and Legal Services.
External expert property advice was provided by Lambert Smith
Hampton as part of their appointment as property agents for the
disposal.

5.22.

The development approaches proposed by bidders seek to
incorporate physical betterment measures either through
containment or partial remediation. These measures would
facilitate the development of the site and reduce the risk of
future contamination events against the current position without
the need for complete removal of contaminated material. The
robustness of the various bidders’ approaches to this was
interrogated as part of the evaluation process. The detail and
implementation of betterment scheme would be controlled
through the Planning Process.

5.23.

The gross bids were submitted with different levels of
conditionality. The project team were required to determine the

Page 62

6

level to which the bidders’ approach to due diligence would be
likely to reduce bid value by the time of exchange of contract,
and therefore what the likely net capital receipt to the Council
would be. This evaluation was based on the robustness of the
research undertaken by bidders and the detail of the proposed
valuations and mitigation schemes, the timing of the capital
receipt and the risk to the Council in terms of contingent liability
at a future date.
5.24.

An evaluation scoring matrix was used as a tool to support
professional judgement and to assess the various bids on a likefor-like basis. The evaluation matrix was developed and agreed
by the project team in advance of receipt of the financial bids
and was subsequently agreed by the Director of Regeneration
and Place in line with the 20th March 2019 Cabinet Resolution.

5.25.

The evaluation matrix also gave scores for the economic benefit
and added value that the proposed development would bring to
the local economy based on square footage which links to job
density and additional business rates for the Council. This was
given a lower weighting to make it a secondary factor that did
not impact the primary financial evaluation. This economic
benefit criterion ultimately had no bearing on the outcome of the
evaluation as the proposals were similar in nature.

5.26.

The three highest bids reflect the value established by the
independent market value assessment. Of these, one bid was
unconditional. The other two were conditional on a range of
measures to be determined through further due diligence work.

5.27.

Full details of the scoring matrix and methodology are set out in
Appendix 3.

Preferred Bidder
5.28.
The recommended preferred bidder is the only one of the top
three bids that was wholly unconditional and therefore the only
bid where the value is likely to be realised in full. The
unconditional nature of the recommended preferred bidder’s bid
and a commitment to exchange and complete within four weeks
of receiving the legal pack is considered to present the least
commercial risk to the Council.
5.29.

The value of the recommended preferred bid exceeds the
independent market assessment previously prepared for the
site. The advice from the Council’s independent property advisor
is that the recommended sale value is in a range where the
valuation is robust and is consistent with the extremely strong
market conditions within the pre-Covid pandemic market.

5.30.

The net value that will be achieved by the Council from this
disposal will be the realised capital receipt minus costs. In other

Page 63

7

words, the optimum capital receipt having regard to the
contingent risk. This demonstrates both best value and best
consideration in accordance with the s123 of the Local
Government Act 1972.
5.31.

The sale of Brockhampton West meets the following Corporate
objectives:
a.

b.

c.

d.

6.

A thriving borough economy – Development of the land will
increase job density within the Borough. The potential
development of the site will also compliment the already
successful Broardmarsh industrial area.
A sustainable council – Realising the capital value of this
currently unused and contaminated land will allow capital
projects to be undertaken that will increase the revenue
income to the Council and develop a more sustainable
economic model.
An environmentally aware and cleaner borough – The land for
sale is contaminated, ‘betterment’ will be required through the
development process. This will act to help mitigate the impacts
of historic landfill and result in a cleaner Borough.
Approved Regeneration Strategy/Business Plan – Sale of
Brockhampton West meets a key objective of the approved
Regeneration Strategy.

Options Considered
6.1.

6.2.

Based upon the expert advice received, a range of alternative
options have been considered for the future use of the site.
These have been evaluated having regard to both the financial
benefit to the Council and the level of legal and financial risk.
The options and the financial information are set out in Appendix
4. The options considered are:


Do nothing option



Council retaining the site and introducing non-invasive uses
(e.g. Solar PV)



Retention of the site for wild bird mitigation land relating to the
Local Plan



Sharing cost of remediation



JV/Council to develop the site directly or with a partner



Disposal of the site with outline planning consent



Unconditional disposal
Do nothing – The Council has the option of not disposing of the
site and continuing to manage it as a property asset. This

Page 64

8

option would not generate a capital receipt or additional revenue
for the Council or meet any of the regeneration objectives. In
addition to this the site is deteriorating over time as a result of
underlying physical processes. The wider Broadmarsh site is
also subject to the effects of coastal erosion. This means that
without intervention, a future pollution event becomes
increasingly more likely. Currently the Council does not have
contingency measures in place and self-insures to cover any
potential financial impact.
6.3.

Non-intrusive uses – Investigations into the value of the site for
less intrusive uses such as solar PV have been undertaken.
Although there was potential to generate a revenue income
stream, as shown in Appendix 4, the required upfront capital
investment and management responsibilities would be
substantial resulting in a negligible net financial return over time.
This use would tie up the site for around twenty years in order to
recoup the initial investment and realise a return. Although use
for solar PV would retain the asset whilst generating a modest
income over time, this would not reduce the residual liability to
the Council regarding the former landfill use. Use for solar PV
would not deliver on the Council’s regeneration objectives
around employment or generate additional business rates
income.

6.4.

Wild bird mitigation – The site is recognised in the Solent
Brent Geese and Waders Strategy as being a low use site
meaning that it would have some potential environmental value
as an additional habitat site. This use would attract funds from
developments in other parts of the Borough that were impacting
on habitat and needed to provide mitigation. This use would be
similar to the do-nothing scenario in that it would not reduce the
residual liability to the Council regarding the former landfill use.
The financial value of the land for this use would be nominal
when compared to development for commercial use in line with
the Local Plan allocation. As such it would not be possible to
generate a comparable capital receipt.

6.5.

Sharing the cost of remediation – The possibility of sharing
the cost of full remediation of the site, and/or liability for future
claims with Hampshire County Council (HCC) as the previous
operator of the site and license holder for tipping, has been
investigated. As the original licence documents no longer exist it
is assumed that Hampshire County Council complied with all the
conditions of their licence. As such we are unable to prove
sufficient liability on the part of HCC to take forward this option.
In addition to this, full remediation of the site would not be
financially or environmentally viable. The cost of full remediation
to create a clean site would be prohibitive. Removing all
contaminated material would only move the problem elsewhere.

Page 65

9

6.6.

Developing directly or with a JV partner - The possibility of
developing the site with a development partner (commercial or
other public body) was considered. Legal advice indicated that
this would not reduce the residual liability to the Council
regarding the former landfill use. As the Council has no
experience in developing contaminated sites this would present
a major risk. Advice from Lambert Smith Hampton, combined
with legal advice and the advice of the Council’s Property team,
was that this route would not achieve best consideration to the
Council. It was also considered that we would receive a reduced
income or receipt for the land whilst sharing part of the cost and
the risk associated with development should a joint venture
approach be undertaken.

6.7.

Disposal with Outline Planning Consent - At the outset of the
project in early 2019 consideration was given to a disposal of
the site with the benefit of outline planning consent for
development. It was felt that this would potentially increase the
potential sale value by more than the cost of securing planning
permission. Lambert Smith Hampton were asked to give a view
on this as part of their initial engagement. Subsequent due
diligence and market testing have demonstrated that, due to the
complex nature and history of the site, the cost of meeting
environmental obligations required to obtain a consent would be
prohibitive. Extensive and detailed technical surveys and due
diligence relating to the ground conditions would be required in
order to fully assess the cost of mitigating the environmental
constraints. Market testing has also demonstrated the strong
level of market interest in the site. Potential developers have
made it clear that the allocation of the site in the Local Plan is
sufficient to give them confidence to proceed in the current
market. This means that it will be possible for the Council to
realise the value of the site without the need to take on the cost
and risk associated with securing a planning consent.

6.8.

Unconditional disposal – Lambert Smith Hampton were
instructed to test the market on the basis of an unconditional
disposal, i.e. without the Council securing an outline planning
consent or undertaking remediation. This demonstrated that
there is a clear commercial interest in the site for a number of
uses. The market was made aware of the contaminated nature
of the site. Bidders were invited to submit both unconditional
offers and offers that were conditional on various levels of
investigation and due diligence, depending on their preferred
approach. The range of financial offers received showed that
best consideration for the site would be realised by disposing of
the site under the most unconditional terms available as this
would reduce the level of financial risk to the Council without
impacting on the financial return.

6.9.

Impact of a delay due to Covid-19 – As well as the options
considered above the, the option to delay the sale of the land as

Page 66

10

a result of the Covid-19 pandemic was also considered. At the
point that financial bids were made Lambert Smith Hampton
were asked to give a commercial view. Their advice was that the
market relating to warehousing and distribution was at a relative
high. There are however questions over the confidence of the
market moving forward, it is considered that the option of a
delay would not represent best consideration to the Council. It is
also considered that unreasonable delay on behalf of the
Council may result in a loss of the current offer due to current
economic uncertainties.
6.10.

7.

The Council’s agents have advised that a short delay is
considered manageable given the current pandemic. However,
there is a risk that if momentum with the sale process is lost.
The recommended preferred bidder has indicated that they still
wish to proceed at the current time.
Resource Implications

Financial Implications
7.1.
Upon completion, a substantial capital receipt will be realised by
the Council. The net financial benefit to the Council will be the
capital receipt minus the development costs (see Annex 1).
7.2.

Revenue costs associated with the disposal are currently being
met from within the Regeneration South revenue budget.
Subject to exchange and completion of the sale , and in
consultation with the Section 151 Officer, the costs associated
with the delivery of this project (including professional fees and
insurance costs etc.) will be capitalised and recouped from the
capital receipt in order to reduce the revenue impact on the
Council. Expected capitalisation value for project costs is
available at Appendix 6.

7.3.

Contingent financial risks to the Council will be mitigated based
upon contractual indemnity with the purchaser and the
procurement of a suitable environmental insurance policy at the
appropriate time. Quotes obtained for the policy and level of
cover provided are set out at Appendix 6.

7.4.

If the Council opts not to go ahead with the disposal of the site,
retention of the land raises potentially major future remediation
costs as a result of the deterioration of the wider Broadmarsh
site due to coastal processes.

Page 67

11

Section 151 Officer comments
Date: 15.09.20
Section 151 Officer confirms that the proposed offer is in line with the independent
valuation and has no further comments.

Human Resources Implications
7.5.

7.6.

None.
Information Governance Implications
Commercially sensitive information relating to the bidders will be
kept confidential, including information relating to the respective
bids.

Other resource implications
7.7.
None.

8.

Legal Implications
8.1.

Consideration of s123 LGA 1972 was given to each of the
options set out in section 6 of this report in order to demonstrate
‘best consideration’ for the site.

8.2.

The Council is identified a Class A appropriate person under the
terms of the statutory contaminated land regime, the Council will
always retain a level of liability relating to the site (see Appendix
5).

8.3.

The site being sold is part of title number SH28289, which is
owned by the Council. It should be noted that only part of the
land owned by the Council is being sold, with the majority being
retained by the Council (referred to in this paper as "the site"
and "the wider Broadmarsh site", respectively). The wider
Broadmarsh site is presumed to be a high contamination risk
given the historic use to which the site has been put.

Page 68

12

8.4.

The Council has a legal obligation to notify the public of its
intention to dispose of the land. The Council’s Property team will
undertake this work as part of the disposal process.

Monitoring Officer comments
Date: 4 September 2020
The Monitoring Officer has been consulted in the drafting of this report and has no
further comments.

9.

Risks
9.1.

Retention of the land in its current state means the Council
retains an already deteriorating site. This risk is exacerbated by
the site’s proximity to the coast and coastal processes. Such risk
brings with it potentially significant remediation costs in the
future.

9.2.

In order to mitigate risks to the Council various specialist
expertise has been considered, including:
a.

legal experts with specialist knowledge of disposal of
contaminated land

b.

Property professionals with local knowledge and both local and
national expertise

c.

Detailed advice has also been received from the in-house
Environmental Control Officer.

9.3.

Based upon the detailed and expert advice received, the
following measures were discussed and agreed as the best way
to mitigate the risk.
a.

Evaluate disposal options having regard to maximising the
capital receipt and mitigating contingent liability.

b.

Provide full disclosure to prospective bidders/purchaser

c.

Interview and interrogate prospective purchasers to assess
their understanding of ground conditions and proposed
remedial activities.

d.

Invite bids on a conditional and unconditional basis for
comparative analysis purposes to ensure best capital receipt
available (having regard to risk)

e.

Seek a contractual indemnity from the purchaser against any
costs claims actions whatsoever as a result of the disposal

f.

Consider insurance options in order to mitigate risk.

Page 69

13

9.4.

g.

Exercise professional and commercial judgement having
regard to experience and expertise.

h.

Provide estates recommendation for inclusion in scoring
matrix.

i.

Provide regular updates to Strategic Regeneration Programme
Board at all stages of the process with views and opinions.
It should be noted that it is NOT possible to accurately quantify
the level of hypothetical contingent risk in so far as it is
dependent upon a range of factors beyond our reasonable
control e.g. legislative changes, environmental changes, coastal
erosion, market conditions etc. in addition to considerable risks
associated with the ground conditions

Legal Risk
9.5.
Counsel's opinion was sought from Mathew Reed QC who was
instructed to advise the Council on the extent of legal liability
and identify ways to mitigate such liabilities and risks. (whether
the sale site is disposed of or not). Counsel's opinion primarily
relates to the statutory contaminated land regime, but also
potential liability under common law nuisance.
9.6.

The key points as they relate to this transaction are as follows:
a) The Council is a Class A appropriate person for the purposes of
the statutory contaminated land regime
b) If the buyer acquires the site with knowledge of the contamination,
and has sufficient control of the site to deal with it, they will also
be a Class A appropriate person in relation to the sale site only
c) Liability between Class A appropriate persons can be apportioned
by two means under the statutory regime a) by entering into an
explicit "agreement on liability" between the parties and b) by the
application of the so-called "exclusion tests"
d) An agreement on liability serves to explicitly allocate responsibility
for historic contamination according to the express wishes of the
parties, and the competent authority is required to give effect to
such terms
e) Additionally, there are a number of exclusion tests which serve to
apportion liability between Class A appropriate persons according
to the specific facts of any scenario. The relevant test here for the
sale site is the "sold with information" test, which excludes a seller
from liability for contamination for a site in circumstances where
information is provided to a buyer as to the risk of contamination
and/or the buyer is afforded access to a site to make its own
evaluation of the risk (whether or not they avail themselves of such
access).
f) In relation to the remainder of the site, being retained by the
Council, the Council's liability as a class A person will remain, as

Page 70

14

will the risk of claims from third parties in nuisance if contaminants
escape from the land being retained.
g) Any transferred risk under the statutory contaminated land regime
can revert to a seller where the buyer taking on liability ceases to
exist and there has been no onward transfer of liability (i.e. in an
insolvency scenario).
9.7.

In order to mitigate the Council's risk in relation to the sale site,
the disposal contract includes an express agreement on liability
of the contamination risk and an acknowledgement by the buyer
that the site is "sold with information", and that it therefore
accepts all liability for contamination on the site.

9.8.

It is likely that any development of the site will not result in full
remediation of the contamination. Based upon expert advice, the
complete removal of all waste is neither financially viable nor
ecologically sustainable. The strategy of the purchaser is likely
to involve measures to mitigate or remediate the harmful effects
of the contamination and prevent any leeching to adjoining sites
in line with statutory requirements for development. This
physical betterment will reduce the likelihood of any incident and
is required under planning legislation.

9.9.

The recommendation in this report is for the site to be sold
unconditionally (i.e. not subject to planning or details of
betterment activities). However, it should be noted that any
development activity would be subject to full scrutiny and
approval by both the Environment Agency, the Local Planning
Authority, Highways Authority as well as other public bodies in
the usual way. The local planning authority will also be able to
restrict uses to those that are compliant with Council policy.

9.10.

The sale contract also includes a full contractual indemnity from
the buyer in relation to any third-party claims, or damage to the
Council's retained land, arising from the escape of contaminants
from the sale site.

9.11.

Advice from the Council’s Environmental Control Officer is that
the greatest period of risk is during the construction phase while
the ground is being disturbed. While this will be covered through
the contractual indemnity with the developer, this would not be
enforceable where the developer went into liquidation. For this
event it is considered prudent that the Council should take out
additional environmental insurance in order to reduce the
financial risk to the Council as far as is reasonably possible. The
environmental insurance recommended as part of the sale is
considered in full within Appendix 2 of this report and forms part
of the contract of sale. This also provides a review of the level of
cover and supporting recommendation from Womble Bond
Dickinson. The quoted cost of the insurance is provided in
Appendix 6 as part of the schedule of disposal costs.

Page 71

15

9.12.

The insurance only covers the sale site and not the wider
Broadmarsh site as retained by the Council. It is understood that
the Council’s Property team are seeking to include the land
retained by the Council on the Corporate Risk Register.

9.13.

The contractual indemnity will limit the risk of a contingent
liability on sale, environmental insurance will sit alongside this
and provide protection to the Council against 3rd party claims, or
in the event of the purchaser/developer becoming insolvent.
There is a risk that a contingent liability arises post disposal of
the site however the measures have been put in place to
mitigate that risk.

9.14.

The recommended preferred bidder has agreed to share the
cost of environmental insurance that would cover the Council for
up to £20M for a period of ten years linked to the start of the
development. If any work is required on land retained by the
Council arising from development activity on the sale site, the
cost of this work would be recovered by either the contractual
indemnity or insurance.

9.15.

As a result of the physical betterment measures that will be
implemented as part of the development, on completion of
construction, the risk of a pollution event will be reduced to a
level lower than that before the site was developed.

9.16.

The disposal process has been undertaken in accordance with
Ministry for Housing Communities and Local Government
Guidance for disposal of Local Authority Assets (The Guidance).
This will minimise the risk of Judicial Review or challenge to the
outcome from unsuccessful bidders.

Commercial Risks
9.17.
In order to mitigate the commercial risk to the Council of the site
being immediately sold to another purchaser at a higher price by
the successful bidder, an overage provision has been agreed
whereby if the site is sold within 2 years the 50% of the uplift
above the agreed sale price will be returned to the Council.
Advice from the Council’s property agent is that the likelihood of
the purchaser immediately selling on the site in its current
undeveloped state is highly improbable. The recommended
preferred bidder has stated an intention to develop the site and
dispose of the built scheme.
9.18.

Development of the site will require major upfront financial
investment by the developer, including extensive and costly
mitigation at an early stage in order to realise a profit. The level
of profit reflects the level of investment and considerable risks
associated with the development of the site. The risk appetite of
developers differs from that of local authorities.

9.19.

The recommended preferred bidder has a well-regarded
reputation in the development market and are funded by a cash

Page 72

16

resourced partner, CWC Clowes Developments UK Ltd, with no
reliance on third party funding. The advice and
recommendations from the agent are that the purchaser and
funding partner have the experience and funding to deliver the
proposed development of this site.
Impact of Covid-19
9.20.
Whilst the industrial and logistics market appears to be holding
up, the economic repercussions and developer confidence and
funding ability may falter as a result of the pandemic. It must be
considered a real threat as to whether the market will continue
to perform and how it will react in the coming months is
unpredictable at the present time.

10.

Consultation
10.1.

The Director of Regeneration and Place has been given regular
briefings throughout the project to ensure that he was fully
aware of all actions and could be fully assured that the best
consideration for the site is represented, in line with the 20th
March 2019 Cabinet resolution. .

10.2.

Briefings have been provided to the Strategic Regeneration
Programme Board (SRPB) through regular papers and verbal
updates. A project book is updated monthly as an ongoing
record of all projects in the Regeneration Programme. This
includes updates to this project and is circulated to members of
the SRPB in advance of meetings. The SRPB includes the
consultees required under the 2019 Cabinet direction to dispose
of the site. The SRPB is not a decision-making body. This
process ensured that the consultees identified by the direction
were fully updated on all actions taken so that any issues could
be identified at the earliest opportunity.

10.3.

In addition to being a member of the SRPB, the Portfolio Lead
for Regeneration was briefed on the project on a regular basis
by the Head of Regeneration in regular one-to-ones.

10.4.

Extensive engagement has taken place over the past 12 months
as part of the detailed due diligence exercise with HBC’s
Economic Development, Property, Legal and Environmental
Health. teams, Lambert Smith Hampton, Womble Bond
Dickenson and Matthew Reed QC. The Environment Agency
have also been consulted in respect of historic contamination
issues.

10.5.

Progress on the project has been reported to the Council’s
Executive Board at key milestones or when guidance was
required on the most appropriate course of action in order to
meet the objectives of the March 2019 Cabinet Resolution.

Page 73

17

11.

12.

Communication
11.1.

Communication of the project objectives, scope, decisions and
outputs has been communicated to the SRPB, Executive Board
and Cabinet. The disposal has not been promoted in the public
domain due to commercial sensitivities, although the allocation
of the site for commercial development was made public as part
of the Local Plan consultation.

11.2.

Once the disposal is complete there will be an opportunity to
promote the positive benefits of the development through press
releases and social media outlets.

Appendices:
Annex 1
– Heads of Terms and Sale Particulars EXEMPT
Appendix 1 – Location and site plan
Appendix 2 – Draft sale contract EXEMPT
Appendix 3 – Bid Evaluation and Scoring Matrix EXEMPT
Appendix 4 – Options Appraisal EXEMPT
Appendix 5 – Legal Advice and Insurance Details EXEMPT
Appendix 6 – Project cost summary EXEMPT
Appendix 7 – Guidance on Disposal of Council Property Assets
Appendix 8 – Independent Market Appraisal EXEMPT

13.

Background Papers:





Opportunity Havant Regeneration Strategy
Disposal Guidance – Local Authority assets (MHCLG)
Cabinet decision relating to disposal of Brockhampton West
(20th March 2019 under minute 139)
Strategic Regeneration Programme Board updates

Agreed and signed off by:
Monitoring Officer
S151 Officer
Director
Portfolio Holder

Contact Officer: Simon Kennedy
Job Title: Regeneration Project Manager
Telephone: 02392 446616
E-Mail: simon.kennedy@havant.gov.uk

Page 74

18

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 75

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 – Site location and Red Line Plan
Site Details
Address –

Brockhampton West
Harts Farm Way
Havant

Co-ordinates -

470114,105670

Site Plan -

Location Plan -

Page 85

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 87

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 111

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 121

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 131

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 163

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 7 - Guidance on Disposal of Council Property Asseta
1.1.

As well as meeting the requirements of the Cabinet direction, Local
Authorities have obligations to comply with s123 of the Local Government
Act 1972
(i) states that a local authority may dispose of land in any way they
wish.
(ii) states that a local authority 'should not dispose of land less than
the best that can reasonably be obtained ie best consideration'
Local authorities must exercise their function and comply with their
fiduciary responsibilities in a proper manner and provide reasoned
consideration of the issues.
A Council can be found to be in breach if:
a) it failed to take proper advice
b) failed to follow proper advice that cannot be justified
or
c) followed advice that was simply wrong

1.2.

Guidance is available to Councils on the disposal of Local Authority
assets1. The guidance identifies the key principles to be considered so that
land is disposed of effectively and efficiently. The key principles and steps
met to meet these principles are set out below.
Every disposal having clear objectives from the outset. These should
establish the key objectives and targets for land disposal – for example, this
could be to maximise housing capacity, receipt or employment floorspace, or
to reduce costs through divestment.
The approved Council Regeneration Strategy sets out the Councils objective
to dispose of the land known as Brockhampton West. The Regeneration
Strategy is clear that the maximum value should be obtained from the sale in
order to re-invest the funds to the benefit of the Council. The cabinet
direction noted within section 1 of this report reinforces this objective by
delegating authority to officers to achieve ‘best value’ for the site.

1

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/508307/16031
6_Land_disposal_guidance.pdf

Page 165

Disposals rooted in local plans. Land disposals should help deliver local
planning objectives, addressing matters such as the requirement for a five
year land supply, or the assessed need for housing and employment land.
The site is included in both the extant and emerging local plan for
development of employment uses.
Early and meaningful engagement with other public bodies and the
market. Early engagement with other public bodies will ensure that the
views of all authorities with an interest can be taken into account, so that
land is used as efficiently as possible. Early market engagement should
inform the disposal strategy and brief, and ensure the opportunity is
attractive to the market.
Engagement was undertaken with a number of stakeholders in order to
develop the disposal strategy and form a recommendation ensuring best
consideration would be obtained on disposal. The Environment Agency was
consulted in order to better understand the responsibilities to the Council
related to development of former landfill. Engagement with the Environment
Agency, the Local Planning Authority, and the Councils own Environmental
Health team formed a better understanding of the constraints to
development. This engagement allowed the disposal strategy to account for
considerations arising from the contaminated nature of the site. The market
was also engaged extensively in a number of different areas to confirm the
strategy for disposal that would achieve the best consideration to the Council
in line with its clear objectives. Market engagement will be considered more
fully within section 6 of this report.
The appropriate level of investment determined prior to disposal. To
ensure the best possible return, in many cases it may be appropriate to
invest in a site before disposal, for example by obtaining planning permission
or providing infrastructure. The appropriate type and scale of investment will
depend on the individual circumstances of the site, and understanding these
early will ensure the best outcome for authorities.
Through engagement with appropriate bodies, and due to the sites use as
former landfill, the consideration of the amount of investment required prior
to disposal was of particular relevance when following the guidance. The
amount of investment required, in combination with the objective of obtaining
best consideration was a key consideration and is clearly set out in section 6
of this report.

Page 166

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 167

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 195

This page is intentionally left blank

